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DETAILS OF HEARING AND REPRESENTATION:

1. In terms of Section 191 (5)(a) of the Labour Relations Act (the LRA) arbitration was held at the regional offices of the Road Freight Bargaining Council in Parow on 19 March 2012. The matter was part-heard and the arbitration continued on 14 May 2012. 

2. Beyers Claassen, an official of UASA represented Dirk Geldenhuys, the applicant. Pieter Strydom, an official of RFEA represented the respondent.  The respondent had 1 witness, and the applicant had 2 witnesses. All witnesses gave evidence under oath and the proceedings were digitally recorded. The respondent handed in a bundle of documents paginated from 1 to 26.
ISSUE IN DISPUTE:

3. I am required to decide whether the dismissal of the applicant on 21 December 2011 for misconduct was fair, noting that the procedural side of the dismissal was not in dispute. The relief sought was retrospective reinstatement.

BACKGROUND OF THE DISPUTE:

4. The applicant has worked for the respondent since 27 October 2009 and was earning R1400.67 per week as a code 14 long distance driver at the time of his dismissal. 

5. The respondent states that they dismissed the applicant for dishonesty relating to a shortage of frozen chickens on a delivery. The applicant avers that he was dismissed unfairly. It was common cause that there was a shortage on the chickens delivered on the day in question with the respondent submitting that one of the seal numbers on the vehicle did not correspond to the documentation and the applicant contending that the issue relates to the practices and / or responsibilities with regard to said seals. 

SURVEY OF ARGUMENTS & EVIDENCE:

Respondent’s Evidence

Ronel Farmer, contracts manager, testified as follows:

6. The procedures regarding the transporting of chicken are that the company either loads the chickens at Rainbow Chickens (the client) or at Vector warehouses. The driver arrives on site for the load and once the truck is loaded the driver pulls the vehicle out from the loading dock and the doors are closed and sealed in the presence of the driver, a Vector employee and a security guard. The Vector employee affixes the seals, being a blue numbered plastic cable tie seal. There would normally be two seals per truck. The driver signs load acceptance on said document, as in the bundle for the incident with the applicant, and this also records the work instruction, temperature settings and seal numbers. As on the document the seal numbers were 47441 and 47442. The applicant had signed the document. 
7. The driver would take the load and record his trip on a trip sheet. With the load in question, as on the trip sheet in the bundle, one Archie, being a shunter (driver) had done the loading of the truck at the Rainbow site. This load was pre-loaded. Normally the shunter would take the load to the respondent’s premises where the driver would take it over. In this instance the applicant and his co-driver went to the Rainbow site and collected his load and departed on the trip. The applicant signed the load acceptance form, however in this instance the shunter, Archie and the Vector employee both omitted to sign the form being acceptance of the seal numbers and temperature settings. 
8. As on the trip sheet, as recorded by the applicant himself, he departed at 21h00 on 31 October 2011, and off-loaded at the customer in PE on 1 November 2011 at 11h30. Drivers are required to stop every 2 hours on their trip for 10 to 15 minutes to rest and check their vehicle and the temperatures of the load; these stops are to be recorded on the trip sheet. The procedure on arrival at the customer site is that the customer must check the seals against the load documentation, and then the seals are broken and the load off-loaded and checked. The delivery documents would then be signed and returned to the respondent as POD. With sealed loads the respondent would not have to take responsibility for any stock shortage if the seals are intact and the seal numbers correspond to the load documentation (Rainbow would have to accept the liability in that instance). 
9. Farmer said that on 1 November 2011 she received a phone call from the owner of Springbok Butchery, the customer being delivered to by the applicant in PE, saying that they again had a shortage. At the time she was investigating a shortage on a delivery from 19 October 2011 with the same 2 drivers – one being the applicant. She asked him to send her the 2 seals from the load, which the customer said were numbers 47441 and 66914. She advised Vector of the seal numbers and they advised her as to what the numbers should have been on the applicant’s load -  and number 66914 was a different seal number as indicated on the load documentation. Farmer investigated further and got the applicant’s trip information and compared the trip sheet to the satellite tracking information, however discovered that the satellite tracker stopped working at 03h06 on 1 November 2011 in the George area. The tachograph from the vehicle was therefore sent for analysis. As in the document bundle the report showed 2 stops not noted on the driver’s trip sheet. The unreported stops were at 03h55 for 20 minutes and at 03h55 for 25 minutes. All other stops were on the trip sheet and corresponded to the tachograph report.

10. Farmer said that when she queried the unreported stops with the applicant he told her that the 1st stop was for an accident and the road was closed, and the 2nd stop was for coffee and a rest. He gave no reasonable explanation why the stops were not recorded on the trip sheet. She called the George police, and they advised her that they had no report of an accident. During the applicant’s hearing this was put to him and he advised her it was an unmarked police vehicle that stopped him for a routine check. 

11. Based on the seal numbers not corresponding to the load documentation seal numbers, the respondent had to accept liability for the shortages. Farmer referred to the delivery note where the client had marked that there were 20 bags of the frozen chicken (IQF) short, being 5 bags short on 4 pallets. 5 bags would be one layer of IQF – each pallet should have 14 layers or stacks adding up to 70 chickens.  The delivery note also had printed on it what the seal numbers should be. Both the customer and the applicant had signed the delivery note. Farmer also referred to a drivecam report, saying all vehicles are fitted with a drivecam (a camera in the cab) which records events when a certain preset G-force is exceeded (eg rough uneven surfaces, impact and harsh braking). This report indicated that an event was triggered by ‘rough/uneven surface’ at 23h45 on 31 October 2011 and states further that it appeared that the drivecam had been obstructed. 

12. Farmer said that the applicant had been charged and found guilty as he was in charge of the load and there were a number of inconsistencies found. She added that the customer had told her that the seal numbers did not correspond to the documentation. The applicant’s statement stated that the co-driver (Jerome Fredericks who subsequently resigned during the investigation period) had broken the seal with the customer.  

13. Under cross examination Farmer said that the customer had not noted on the delivery note that the one seal number was wrong. It was put to Farmer that at that particular customer they would cut the seal off and discard it in a crate. Farmer said that if this was the case, with the seal number that did not correspond (66914), it did not explain how that seal number was one that had been used before on local Cape Town delivery from Vector to Digistics, and how that seal came to be in PE. She said it was possible to re-use a cable tie seal if it had ‘not been pulled through tight’.

14. Farmer said that if the load was a ‘split load’ being both frozen (IQF) and fresh chicken, the frozen items would be loaded on the cab side of the load with the fresh by the doors. If the pallets were double stacked in the vehicle, she did not know how long it would take to ‘get to the frozen chicken’, however the load in question was single stacked. She agreed that as in the documentation both the shunter (Archie) and the Vector employee had forgotten to sign the document when the applicant received it for his load. She noted however that with the applicant having signed, it meant that he was signing that the seal numbers were as on the document and the truck. She said that the charges relating to the shortages of the 19 October 2011, the applicant had been found not guilty as the seal numbers corresponded and the seals had been intact on delivery. Farmer agreed that regarding Fredericks, the co-driver, there was a dispute at the Council with respect to his resignation. She conceded that whilst the drivecam report showed a non-conformance and was part of the investigation; that it did not relate to the missing chicken. The George police had not wanted to send either a statement or a copy of their incident book to verify that no accident had been reported – relating to the applicant’s 1st unreported stop. 

15. Under re-examination Farmer stated that with the load being 30 pallets it would have been double stacked. 

Applicant’s Evidence
Dirk Geldenhuys, applicant, testified as follows:

16. On the 31 October 2011 he drove a load to Rainbow from the respondent’s premises and then got his PE load there. He checked his load and seal numbers etc, signed for them and left. In PE at the customer, his co-driver (Fredericks) had gotten out and had been with the lady from the customer at the back of the truck when the seals were broken. Because they had to wait to be off loaded, Fredericks had gone with one Ben Vyver, a colleague, to get documents for another load signed. Later the lady offloading came to him and said that there were pallets with the incorrect amount of ‘sakke’ (chickens) on them. He had immediately called his supervisor to report the shortages. He was advised that the customer must sign for the shortages, and not him as per company rules. He also contacted Fredericks to advise him so he could immediately return and be with him to see the shortages. 
17. The applicant said that the lady offloading had told him about the shortages about ¾ of an hour after she began offloading, but she had said nothing about the seals – nobody had said anything about the seals. He added that normally, if the seal numbers differed from what the document said they should be, the customer would write this on the delivery note; this was not done on this load. He had not been present and did not see when the seals were broken at the back with Fredericks being present. The load had been double stacked with the frozen chickens in the truck on the cab side of the load. He said it would not be possible with the load being double stacked, to have gotten into the truck to get at the frozen chickens due to the lack of space inside. 
18. He had only been informed by Farmer after having returned from PE and having worked about a further 2 shifts, that the seal numbers did not correspond. A seal (cable tie) cannot be used more than once. Farmer had told him she was waiting for the seals from the trip from the client, and it took about 2 weeks to get them. As he did not drive Cape Town routes, he did not know how the seal used on a Cape Town trip was found in PE. It does happen that there are shortages or over’s in stock on deliveries. He did not take, nor was he aware who had taken any chicken from the load in question. 
19. Normally he would not go to Rainbow to fetch his load and Archie, the shunter would bring it to the respondent’s premises for him. The normal procedure if loading on the premises was that the supervisor on duty would check the load details and the load and both he and the supervisor would sign the documents. However on the load in question, at Rainbow, Archie had told him to sign and he (Archie) would take the document to the supervisor. The applicant called the supervisor who told him that as the load was already late to leave, he must ‘just ride’. The seals on the truck were the same as the ones on the document.  It was also the supervisor’s work to have checked the seals and they would also normally do a briefing before the driver left; this did not happen on this trip.
20. Under cross examination the applicant said that regarding stops on a trip, they stop when they need to, and there is no such thing as ‘authorised’ or ‘unauthorised’ stops. He had done his part with the load, however the company had not followed the rules with no supervisor when he left (to sign off on the load etc). He agreed that on the document when he left, both Archie and somebody from Rainbow should have signed. He was not negligent to have left with the load; the supervisor he called had instructed him to leave. 
21. The applicant said he did not know why the respondent had made such allegations against him and he should not have been charged. The incorrect seal numbers must have been made up or planted – the customer had not told him about the seal numbers being wrong, nor had they written it on the delivery note. He gave no answer when asked as to who would ‘make it up or plant it’. The issue over the satellite tracking system stopping to work, the applicant said that the same tacho/tracker system had been reported 5 or 6 times as giving problems, by different drivers. It. Even with the ‘inconsistencies’ as stated by the respondent, the applicant said it was unreasonable and unfair for him to have been charged. He said that if he stopped at roadworks, he would not record this on the trip sheet. As the incident was so long ago, he could not remember why he had stopped (at the unreported stops), but it could have been for roadworks. He had never told Farmer he had stopped due to an accident. 
Ben Vyver, driver and shop steward, testified as follows:

22. He represented the applicant at his enquiry. As a driver one must stop every 2 hours, or (in-between) as one feels. Regarding the one unreported stop, at the hearing the applicant did not say it was for an accident; he said he did not know why he had to stop, but was stopped (by police) and then drove on. In his experience shortages on frozen chicken do happen, in fact Farmer had said they believed that a syndicate was operating in Worcester (involved in the shortages). He had a shortage of 17 at a customer once and he was aware of a driver that had too many pallets loaded. The chickens are loaded (at Rainbow) in Worcester, taken to Cape Town and then delivered to customers; this is a number of places (where chicken can be tampered with). If the seals did not correspond, the customer would normally advise them. Farmer had acknowledged at the hearing that the satellite in the truck had been problematic.

23. Under cross examination Vyver said that they only had to ensure that somebody from the respondent was present with the customer when the seals were broken, and that it did not have to be the driver and could be the co-driver. If the customer found that the seal did not correspond to the documentation, they should write this down and bring it to their (the drivers) attention immediately.   

Respondent’s Arguments 
24. Strydom, for the respondent argued that the loss of IQF was a problem for the respondent. He submitted that in the applicant’s case, there were 5 ‘conditions’ present, without which the shortage would not have been taken further. These conditions were the unreported stops, the product was short, the seals on the truck did not correspond to the loading documents, the GPS (satellite tracking) stopped working at 03h06 and this was the 2nd incident of shortages with the same customer with the applicant driving. This led to the applicant being charged, found guilty and dismissed. The above created enough doubt and therefore the onus shifts to the applicant to show he was not involved, and a simple denial is not enough. The applicant and his witness lacked credibility and were evasive whilst Farmer for the respondent was credible. 
Applicant’s Arguments

25. Claassen, for the applicant argued that his dismissal was unfair. The normal procedures with regards to signing off on the load documentation and checking seal numbers etc was not done by Rainbow or a supervisor from the respondent. The respondent tried to prove that the applicant could have removed the chicken during the unreported stops. They did not have a specialist to testify to the documents pertaining to the stops (the tachographs d the report on the tachographs). Farmer’s testimony changed in a number of regards relating to how and where in the truck IGF chicken was loaded and if the pallets of product were single or double stacked. At the client, nobody mentioned that the seals did not correspond with the documentation, and Fredericks was present when the seals were broken with the customer, but not the applicant. The customer did not mark the seal numbers did not correspond on the delivery note  
ANALYSIS OF ARGUMENTS & EVIDENCE:

26. In terms of S192 (2) of the Labour Relations Act (the LRA) I am required on the basis of the evidence presented to me to decide whether the dismissal of the applicant was substantively fair only as the procedural side of the matter is not in dispute.

27. The standard of proof is that of a balance of probabilities. If, in this analysis, certain evidence or argument is not referred to, this does not imply it had not been considered. The arbitration is a two step process, firstly the respondent has to prove that an applicant is guilty, and if the respondent can do this on the balance of probabilities, the second step follows; the respondent must prove why the sanction is an appropriate one. Regarding the second step though, the applicant has conceded that if found guilty, dismissal would be appropriate. The substantive issues are relatively simple. It is common cause that the applicant picked up his PE load at the Rainbow site, being the client, on 31 October 2011; that the load documentation was only signed by the applicant and not by any Rainbow, Vector or respondent employees as would be normally done – to confirm the load details including the serial numbers; en route there were 2 unreported (as on the trip sheet) stops (there was however argument and evidence presented as the need to have recorded the stops in question); that the IQF chicken was short as noted on the delivery note by the customer Springbok Butchery, however no written note was made of the seal numbers allegedly differing from what was stated on the delivery documentation.
28. Farmer’s evidence regarding the tracker stopping to work on 1 November 2011 at 03h06 was not placed in dispute, and it was submitted that this was one of the factors (‘conditions’) present that added to the decision to find the applicant guilty.  The applicant and his witness, Vyver however both stated that the tracker in question had been reported as problematic and not working properly on ‘5 or 6’ occasions. Whilst Strydom, the respondent’s representative correctly submitted that this contention was not put to Farmer whilst she was on the stand so that she could have an opportunity to comment on it, it was also not placed in dispute – and it was noted that Farmer was present throughout the arbitration and she could have given instruction to Strydom in this regard. I therefore find the applicant’s version on the tracker being problematic to be more likely. 
29. Strydom, in closing argued the above point, and added 4 other ‘conditions’ that were present that without which the shortage would not have been taken further. These are the unreported stops, the product was short, the seals on the truck did not correspond to the loading documents, the GPS (satellite tracking) stopped working at 03h06 and this was the 2nd incident of shortages with the same customer with the applicant driving. I have referred to the tracker ‘condition’in th above pararaph, the IQF shortage is common cause and obviously needed to be a condition for there to have been any case at all against the applicant. The question of the present charges being the 2nd incident of such shortages involving the applicant and his co-driver to the same customer I find to have no substance based on the following, the 1st incident of 19 October 2011 was part of the charges against the applicant. He was found not guilty based on the evidence that the seals were intact and corresponded to the delivery documentation. Added to this was the uncontested evidence of both the applicant and Vyver that shortages and even overs do occur, and that Farmer testified that with sealed loads (as was the applicant’s load) the respondent would not have to take responsibility or any liability for any stock shortage if the seals are intact and the seal numbers correspond to the load documentation. This is clearly based on the logic that the client, Rainbow in this instance, have loaded and checked the contents of the load themselves before handing it over to the applicant where he has no input in terms of checking or verifying the contents of his load. With the incident of 19 October 2011 being such a load, I do not see how based on the above, and the not guilty finding on this incident, the respondent can take this into account in determining the applicant’s guilt in any part. Suspicions of involvement are just that, mere suspicions – and in this case they were more than that – a not guilty finding was made. 
30. Regarding the question raised by Claassen for the applicant, and based on the applicant’s and Vyvers’ testimony, that on leaving Rainbow the loading procedures and signing off of the loading documentation was not done as was standard procedure, and this is common cause, I do not find that this absolves the applicant at all from the acceptance of his load and the seal numbers on the truck corresponding to the documentation. Even if the normal procedure was not followed, with the applicant testifying that he had checked the seal numbers to the documentation, and they were correct and corresponded, this argument ‘has no legs’. I find therefore that this ‘non-conformance’ of procedure does not aid the applicant’s case one  or another. 
31. The question of the seal numbers not corresponding ties into the unreported stops. Effectively the respondent is arguing that the unreported stops are suspicious under the circumstances of the IQF shortages and effectively were the opportunity for the applicant and his co-driver to have unloaded the missing chicken. The problem with the above submissions is that initially Farmer testified that the load was single stacked, and later under re-examination, and as testified to by the applicant, Farmer conceded that with the load being 30 pallets it would have been double stacked. If this is the case, as the applicant testified, it would have been impossible to have gotten to the IQF chicken pallets that would have been likely to have been packed on the cab side of the load furthest away from the doors – unless the pallets were unloaded and reloaded. The unreported stops were 20 and 25 minutes respectively, a time most likely to be far too short to have done this. I do accept the respondent’s evidence though regarding the tachograph report and information, and that even with the tachograph having been approximately 3 hours out, when one corrected for this it is relatively simple to see that the tachograph report on the times of the stops, the reported stops that is, correspond in the main to the satellite tracker when it was working and the reported stops as on the trip sheet. I agree with the respondent’s submission further that the applicant did appear vague on the one stop as to what it was, however for the above reasons I find it unlikely that the chicken was taken out of the vehicle on the road. There was also not even a written statement from the George police to verify if there was an accident or not, and just Farmer’s testimony as to what she was allegedly told telephonically by the police.

32. Further to the above in addressing the issue of the seal numbers not corresponding, whilst Farmer submitted that the driver, being the applicant should be present when the customer checks and breaks the seals, the evidence from the applicant and Vyver is that this is not necessarily what occurs on the road, and that they must just ensure that one of the respondent’s employees on the trip must be present. If what Farmer submitted is the standard operating procedure, no evidence, documentary or otherwise (apart from Farmer) of this was presented, and it is difficult for the respondent to dispute what at least appears to be custom and practice. The common cause fact is that Fredericks, and not the applicant was present with the customer’s checker when the seals were checked and broken and that the alleged non-corresponding seal was not written in on the delivery note. The matter of the seals not corresponding was also not even verbally brought to the applicant’s attention at the customer. It is perhaps unfortunate that the respondent did not at very least ensure that they had statements from both the butchery owner who Farmer testified had called her, and the butchery checker who allegedly first saw the problem with the seal numbers, and at best had both present to testify and provide answers and clarity as to what occurred on the day and why the problem was not noted on the trip sheet, and when the seals not matching were noticed and the events that transpired thereafter as to whether the seal had first been discarded in the crate or whether they had been immediately taken to the butchery owner. This would have aided in determining where the incorrect seal was found and the integrity of the evidence clarified, and how the previously used seal for a local Cape Town load found its way to PE. The cable tie seals would be difficult to have been re-used, well nigh impossible if they had been closed and pulled through properly. Again, no evidence was presented from the respondent as to the people present when the seals were sealed on the Rainbow premises when the applicant took his load. This again might have provided clarity on the above.

33. I do agree with the respondent’s representative, Strydom, that at times the applicant appeared evasive and I cannot agree with the applicant’s contention (and Vyver’s) that it was unreasonable and unfair for the applicant to have been charged. The applicant’s failure to want to answer and finally when he answered his demeanor was of a person trying to think what was the best thing to say that would put him in a favourable light. This was unnecessary. He did finally agree that it was reasonable and fair for the respondent to have investigated the shortage. This was the same when he was asked if as the driver, was he in charge of the load. He again did not directly state what the case was and said he is in charge of the truck and not the load. Whilst this appeared evasive, he also eventually agreed that he was in charge of the load, but effectively not the actual number of items in the load as he does not personally check them onto the load. This was more a technical point and understanding. I found him to appear evasive, but whilst this appears suspicious, I do not agree that it goes to the applicant and Vyver’s credibility – no more than Farmer having changed her testimony regarding the double stackingand where the frozen chicken is normally packed in a load. 

34. Under the circumstances I therefore find, based upon the evidence on the balance of probabilities that the respondent has failed to fully discharge their onus.  There is insufficient evidence to find the applicant guilty, however suspicious the respondent party feel some of the ‘conditions present’ were.

35. In coming to a decision as to the remedy for the unfair dismissal, I take inter alia,  the following into account:

a. The applicant has requested retrospective reinstatement.

b. The respondent is a large distributor. 

c. The dismissal was procedurally fair.

d. The applicant was dismissed on 21 December 2011 and has worked for the respondent from 27 October 2009.

36. The respondent argued against a possible reinstatement as the trust relationship has gone due to the applicant’s alleged dishonesty. However the respondent has failed to discharge their onus and prove such dishonesty or that the applicant was aware of the IQF’s being taken, and therefore, the respondent is to reinstate the applicant into the same or similar occupation that he was previously in, on the same terms and conditions and without loss of benefits as employed on prior to his dismissal. As such I reinstate the applicant with five months and 8 days back pay being R32,565.58 (thirty two thousand, five hundred and sixty five rands and fifty eight cents). The applicant is to report for work on 4 June 2012.

AWARD

37. I find the applicant’s dismissal to be substantively unfair.

38. I order the respondent, Unitrans Freight Logistics (Pty) Ltd, to pay the applicant an amount of R32,565.58 (thirty two thousand, five hundred and sixty five rands and fifty eight cents) compensation less tax, on or before 4 June 2012..

39. I order the respondent, Unitrans Freight Logistics (Pty) Ltd, to reinstate the applicant into the same or similar occupation that he was previously in, on the same terms and conditions without loss of benefits as employed on prior to his dismissal with effect from 4 June 2012. The applicant is to report for work on 4 June 2012.

Signed and dated at Parow on 18 May 2012.

NBCCI Arbitrator: Guy Bloch
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DETAILS OF HEARING AND REPRESENTATION:

40. In terms of Section 191 (5)(a) of the Labour Relations Act (the LRA) arbitration was held at the regional offices of the Road Freight Bargaining Council in Parow on 19 March 2012. The matter was part-heard and the arbitration continued on 14 May 2012. 

41. Beyers Claassen, an official of UASA represented Dirk Geldenhuys, the applicant. Pieter Strydom, an official of RFEA represented the respondent.  The respondent had 1 witness, and the applicant had 2 witnesses. All witnesses gave evidence under oath and the proceedings were digitally recorded. The respondent handed in a bundle of documents paginated from 1 to 26.
ISSUE IN DISPUTE:

42. I am required to decide whether the dismissal of the applicant on 21 December 2011 for misconduct was fair, noting that the procedural side of the dismissal was not in dispute. The relief sought was retrospective reinstatement.

BACKGROUND OF THE DISPUTE:

43. The applicant has worked for the respondent since 27 October 2009 and was earning R1400.67 per week as a code 14 long distance driver at the time of his dismissal. 

44. The respondent states that they dismissed the applicant for dishonesty relating to a shortage of frozen chickens on a delivery. The applicant avers that he was dismissed unfairly. It was common cause that there was a shortage on the chickens delivered on the day in question with the respondent submitting that one of the seal numbers on the vehicle did not correspond to the documentation and the applicant contending that the issue relates to the practices and / or responsibilities with regard to said seals. 

SURVEY OF ARGUMENTS & EVIDENCE:

Respondent’s Evidence

Ronel Farmer, contracts manager, testified as follows:

45. The procedures regarding the transporting of chicken are that the company either loads the chickens at Rainbow Chickens (the client) or at Vector warehouses. The driver arrives on site for the load and once the truck is loaded the driver pulls the vehicle out from the loading dock and the doors are closed and sealed in the presence of the driver, a Vector employee and a security guard. The Vector employee affixes the seals, being a blue numbered plastic cable tie seal. There would normally be two seals per truck. The driver signs load acceptance on said document, as in the bundle for the incident with the applicant, and this also records the work instruction, temperature settings and seal numbers. As on the document the seal numbers were 47441 and 47442. The applicant had signed the document. 
46. The driver would take the load and record his trip on a trip sheet. With the load in question, as on the trip sheet in the bundle, one Archie, being a shunter (driver) had done the loading of the truck at the Rainbow site. This load was pre-loaded. Normally the shunter would take the load to the respondent’s premises where the driver would take it over. In this instance the applicant and his co-driver went to the Rainbow site and collected his load and departed on the trip. The applicant signed the load acceptance form, however in this instance the shunter, Archie and the Vector employee both omitted to sign the form being acceptance of the seal numbers and temperature settings. 
47. As on the trip sheet, as recorded by the applicant himself, he departed at 21h00 on 31 October 2011, and off-loaded at the customer in PE on 1 November 2011 at 11h30. Drivers are required to stop every 2 hours on their trip for 10 to 15 minutes to rest and check their vehicle and the temperatures of the load; these stops are to be recorded on the trip sheet. The procedure on arrival at the customer site is that the customer must check the seals against the load documentation, and then the seals are broken and the load off-loaded and checked. The delivery documents would then be signed and returned to the respondent as POD. With sealed loads the respondent would not have to take responsibility for any stock shortage if the seals are intact and the seal numbers correspond to the load documentation (Rainbow would have to accept the liability in that instance). 
48. Farmer said that on 1 November 2011 she received a phone call from the owner of Springbok Butchery, the customer being delivered to by the applicant in PE, saying that they again had a shortage. At the time she was investigating a shortage on a delivery from 19 October 2011 with the same 2 drivers – one being the applicant. She asked him to send her the 2 seals from the load, which the customer said were numbers 47441 and 66914. She advised Vector of the seal numbers and they advised her as to what the numbers should have been on the applicant’s load -  and number 66914 was a different seal number as indicated on the load documentation. Farmer investigated further and got the applicant’s trip information and compared the trip sheet to the satellite tracking information, however discovered that the satellite tracker stopped working at 03h06 on 1 November 2011 in the George area. The tachograph from the vehicle was therefore sent for analysis. As in the document bundle the report showed 2 stops not noted on the driver’s trip sheet. The unreported stops were at 03h55 for 20 minutes and at 03h55 for 25 minutes. All other stops were on the trip sheet and corresponded to the tachograph report.

49. Farmer said that when she queried the unreported stops with the applicant he told her that the 1st stop was for an accident and the road was closed, and the 2nd stop was for coffee and a rest. He gave no reasonable explanation why the stops were not recorded on the trip sheet. She called the George police, and they advised her that they had no report of an accident. During the applicant’s hearing this was put to him and he advised her it was an unmarked police vehicle that stopped him for a routine check. 

50. Based on the seal numbers not corresponding to the load documentation seal numbers, the respondent had to accept liability for the shortages. Farmer referred to the delivery note where the client had marked that there were 20 bags of the frozen chicken (IQF) short, being 5 bags short on 4 pallets. 5 bags would be one layer of IQF – each pallet should have 14 layers or stacks adding up to 70 chickens.  The delivery note also had printed on it what the seal numbers should be. Both the customer and the applicant had signed the delivery note. Farmer also referred to a drivecam report, saying all vehicles are fitted with a drivecam (a camera in the cab) which records events when a certain preset G-force is exceeded (eg rough uneven surfaces, impact and harsh braking). This report indicated that an event was triggered by ‘rough/uneven surface’ at 23h45 on 31 October 2011 and states further that it appeared that the drivecam had been obstructed. 

51. Farmer said that the applicant had been charged and found guilty as he was in charge of the load and there were a number of inconsistencies found. She added that the customer had told her that the seal numbers did not correspond to the documentation. The applicant’s statement stated that the co-driver (Jerome Fredericks who subsequently resigned during the investigation period) had broken the seal with the customer.  

52. Under cross examination Farmer said that the customer had not noted on the delivery note that the one seal number was wrong. It was put to Farmer that at that particular customer they would cut the seal off and discard it in a crate. Farmer said that if this was the case, with the seal number that did not correspond (66914), it did not explain how that seal number was one that had been used before on local Cape Town delivery from Vector to Digistics, and how that seal came to be in PE. She said it was possible to re-use a cable tie seal if it had ‘not been pulled through tight’.

53. Farmer said that if the load was a ‘split load’ being both frozen (IQF) and fresh chicken, the frozen items would be loaded on the cab side of the load with the fresh by the doors. If the pallets were double stacked in the vehicle, she did not know how long it would take to ‘get to the frozen chicken’, however the load in question was single stacked. She agreed that as in the documentation both the shunter (Archie) and the Vector employee had forgotten to sign the document when the applicant received it for his load. She noted however that with the applicant having signed, it meant that he was signing that the seal numbers were as on the document and the truck. She said that the charges relating to the shortages of the 19 October 2011, the applicant had been found not guilty as the seal numbers corresponded and the seals had been intact on delivery. Farmer agreed that regarding Fredericks, the co-driver, there was a dispute at the Council with respect to his resignation. She conceded that whilst the drivecam report showed a non-conformance and was part of the investigation; that it did not relate to the missing chicken. The George police had not wanted to send either a statement or a copy of their incident book to verify that no accident had been reported – relating to the applicant’s 1st unreported stop. 

54. Under re-examination Farmer stated that with the load being 30 pallets it would have been double stacked. 

Applicant’s Evidence
Dirk Geldenhuys, applicant, testified as follows:

55. On the 31 October 2011 he drove a load to Rainbow from the respondent’s premises and then got his PE load there. He checked his load and seal numbers etc, signed for them and left. In PE at the customer, his co-driver (Fredericks) had gotten out and had been with the lady from the customer at the back of the truck when the seals were broken. Because they had to wait to be off loaded, Fredericks had gone with one Ben Vyver, a colleague, to get documents for another load signed. Later the lady offloading came to him and said that there were pallets with the incorrect amount of ‘sakke’ (chickens) on them. He had immediately called his supervisor to report the shortages. He was advised that the customer must sign for the shortages, and not him as per company rules. He also contacted Fredericks to advise him so he could immediately return and be with him to see the shortages. 
56. The applicant said that the lady offloading had told him about the shortages about ¾ of an hour after she began offloading, but she had said nothing about the seals – nobody had said anything about the seals. He added that normally, if the seal numbers differed from what the document said they should be, the customer would write this on the delivery note; this was not done on this load. He had not been present and did not see when the seals were broken at the back with Fredericks being present. The load had been double stacked with the frozen chickens in the truck on the cab side of the load. He said it would not be possible with the load being double stacked, to have gotten into the truck to get at the frozen chickens due to the lack of space inside. 
57. He had only been informed by Farmer after having returned from PE and having worked about a further 2 shifts, that the seal numbers did not correspond. A seal (cable tie) cannot be used more than once. Farmer had told him she was waiting for the seals from the trip from the client, and it took about 2 weeks to get them. As he did not drive Cape Town routes, he did not know how the seal used on a Cape Town trip was found in PE. It does happen that there are shortages or over’s in stock on deliveries. He did not take, nor was he aware who had taken any chicken from the load in question. 
58. Normally he would not go to Rainbow to fetch his load and Archie, the shunter would bring it to the respondent’s premises for him. The normal procedure if loading on the premises was that the supervisor on duty would check the load details and the load and both he and the supervisor would sign the documents. However on the load in question, at Rainbow, Archie had told him to sign and he (Archie) would take the document to the supervisor. The applicant called the supervisor who told him that as the load was already late to leave, he must ‘just ride’. The seals on the truck were the same as the ones on the document.  It was also the supervisor’s work to have checked the seals and they would also normally do a briefing before the driver left; this did not happen on this trip.
59. Under cross examination the applicant said that regarding stops on a trip, they stop when they need to, and there is no such thing as ‘authorised’ or ‘unauthorised’ stops. He had done his part with the load, however the company had not followed the rules with no supervisor when he left (to sign off on the load etc). He agreed that on the document when he left, both Archie and somebody from Rainbow should have signed. He was not negligent to have left with the load; the supervisor he called had instructed him to leave. 
60. The applicant said he did not know why the respondent had made such allegations against him and he should not have been charged. The incorrect seal numbers must have been made up or planted – the customer had not told him about the seal numbers being wrong, nor had they written it on the delivery note. He gave no answer when asked as to who would ‘make it up or plant it’. The issue over the satellite tracking system stopping to work, the applicant said that the same tacho/tracker system had been reported 5 or 6 times as giving problems, by different drivers. It. Even with the ‘inconsistencies’ as stated by the respondent, the applicant said it was unreasonable and unfair for him to have been charged. He said that if he stopped at roadworks, he would not record this on the trip sheet. As the incident was so long ago, he could not remember why he had stopped (at the unreported stops), but it could have been for roadworks. He had never told Farmer he had stopped due to an accident. 
Ben Vyver, driver and shop steward, testified as follows:

61. He represented the applicant at his enquiry. As a driver one must stop every 2 hours, or (in-between) as one feels. Regarding the one unreported stop, at the hearing the applicant did not say it was for an accident; he said he did not know why he had to stop, but was stopped (by police) and then drove on. In his experience shortages on frozen chicken do happen, in fact Farmer had said they believed that a syndicate was operating in Worcester (involved in the shortages). He had a shortage of 17 at a customer once and he was aware of a driver that had too many pallets loaded. The chickens are loaded (at Rainbow) in Worcester, taken to Cape Town and then delivered to customers; this is a number of places (where chicken can be tampered with). If the seals did not correspond, the customer would normally advise them. Farmer had acknowledged at the hearing that the satellite in the truck had been problematic.

62. Under cross examination Vyver said that they only had to ensure that somebody from the respondent was present with the customer when the seals were broken, and that it did not have to be the driver and could be the co-driver. If the customer found that the seal did not correspond to the documentation, they should write this down and bring it to their (the drivers) attention immediately.   

Respondent’s Arguments 
63. Strydom, for the respondent argued that the loss of IQF was a problem for the respondent. He submitted that in the applicant’s case, there were 5 ‘conditions’ present, without which the shortage would not have been taken further. These conditions were the unreported stops, the product was short, the seals on the truck did not correspond to the loading documents, the GPS (satellite tracking) stopped working at 03h06 and this was the 2nd incident of shortages with the same customer with the applicant driving. This led to the applicant being charged, found guilty and dismissed. The above created enough doubt and therefore the onus shifts to the applicant to show he was not involved, and a simple denial is not enough. The applicant and his witness lacked credibility and were evasive whilst Farmer for the respondent was credible. 
Applicant’s Arguments

64. Claassen, for the applicant argued that his dismissal was unfair. The normal procedures with regards to signing off on the load documentation and checking seal numbers etc was not done by Rainbow or a supervisor from the respondent. The respondent tried to prove that the applicant could have removed the chicken during the unreported stops. They did not have a specialist to testify to the documents pertaining to the stops (the tachographs d the report on the tachographs). Farmer’s testimony changed in a number of regards relating to how and where in the truck IGF chicken was loaded and if the pallets of product were single or double stacked. At the client, nobody mentioned that the seals did not correspond with the documentation, and Fredericks was present when the seals were broken with the customer, but not the applicant. The customer did not mark the seal numbers did not correspond on the delivery note  
ANALYSIS OF ARGUMENTS & EVIDENCE:

65. In terms of S192 (2) of the Labour Relations Act (the LRA) I am required on the basis of the evidence presented to me to decide whether the dismissal of the applicant was substantively fair only as the procedural side of the matter is not in dispute.

66. The standard of proof is that of a balance of probabilities. If, in this analysis, certain evidence or argument is not referred to, this does not imply it had not been considered. The arbitration is a two step process, firstly the respondent has to prove that an applicant is guilty, and if the respondent can do this on the balance of probabilities, the second step follows; the respondent must prove why the sanction is an appropriate one. Regarding the second step though, the applicant has conceded that if found guilty, dismissal would be appropriate. The substantive issues are relatively simple. It is common cause that the applicant picked up his PE load at the Rainbow site, being the client, on 31 October 2011; that the load documentation was only signed by the applicant and not by any Rainbow, Vector or respondent employees as would be normally done – to confirm the load details including the serial numbers; en route there were 2 unreported (as on the trip sheet) stops (there was however argument and evidence presented as the need to have recorded the stops in question); that the IQF chicken was short as noted on the delivery note by the customer Springbok Butchery, however no written note was made of the seal numbers allegedly differing from what was stated on the delivery documentation.
67. Farmer’s evidence regarding the tracker stopping to work on 1 November 2011 at 03h06 was not placed in dispute, and it was submitted that this was one of the factors (‘conditions’) present that added to the decision to find the applicant guilty.  The applicant and his witness, Vyver however both stated that the tracker in question had been reported as problematic and not working properly on ‘5 or 6’ occasions. Whilst Strydom, the respondent’s representative correctly submitted that this contention was not put to Farmer whilst she was on the stand so that she could have an opportunity to comment on it, it was also not placed in dispute – and it was noted that Farmer was present throughout the arbitration and she could have given instruction to Strydom in this regard. I therefore find the applicant’s version on the tracker being problematic to be more likely. 
68. Strydom, in closing argued the above point, and added 4 other ‘conditions’ that were present that without which the shortage would not have been taken further. These are the unreported stops, the product was short, the seals on the truck did not correspond to the loading documents, the GPS (satellite tracking) stopped working at 03h06 and this was the 2nd incident of shortages with the same customer with the applicant driving. I have referred to the tracker ‘condition’in th above pararaph, the IQF shortage is common cause and obviously needed to be a condition for there to have been any case at all against the applicant. The question of the present charges being the 2nd incident of such shortages involving the applicant and his co-driver to the same customer I find to have no substance based on the following, the 1st incident of 19 October 2011 was part of the charges against the applicant. He was found not guilty based on the evidence that the seals were intact and corresponded to the delivery documentation. Added to this was the uncontested evidence of both the applicant and Vyver that shortages and even overs do occur, and that Farmer testified that with sealed loads (as was the applicant’s load) the respondent would not have to take responsibility or any liability for any stock shortage if the seals are intact and the seal numbers correspond to the load documentation. This is clearly based on the logic that the client, Rainbow in this instance, have loaded and checked the contents of the load themselves before handing it over to the applicant where he has no input in terms of checking or verifying the contents of his load. With the incident of 19 October 2011 being such a load, I do not see how based on the above, and the not guilty finding on this incident, the respondent can take this into account in determining the applicant’s guilt in any part. Suspicions of involvement are just that, mere suspicions – and in this case they were more than that – a not guilty finding was made. 
69. Regarding the question raised by Claassen for the applicant, and based on the applicant’s and Vyvers’ testimony, that on leaving Rainbow the loading procedures and signing off of the loading documentation was not done as was standard procedure, and this is common cause, I do not find that this absolves the applicant at all from the acceptance of his load and the seal numbers on the truck corresponding to the documentation. Even if the normal procedure was not followed, with the applicant testifying that he had checked the seal numbers to the documentation, and they were correct and corresponded, this argument ‘has no legs’. I find therefore that this ‘non-conformance’ of procedure does not aid the applicant’s case one  or another. 
70. The question of the seal numbers not corresponding ties into the unreported stops. Effectively the respondent is arguing that the unreported stops are suspicious under the circumstances of the IQF shortages and effectively were the opportunity for the applicant and his co-driver to have unloaded the missing chicken. The problem with the above submissions is that initially Farmer testified that the load was single stacked, and later under re-examination, and as testified to by the applicant, Farmer conceded that with the load being 30 pallets it would have been double stacked. If this is the case, as the applicant testified, it would have been impossible to have gotten to the IQF chicken pallets that would have been likely to have been packed on the cab side of the load furthest away from the doors – unless the pallets were unloaded and reloaded. The unreported stops were 20 and 25 minutes respectively, a time most likely to be far too short to have done this. I do accept the respondent’s evidence though regarding the tachograph report and information, and that even with the tachograph having been approximately 3 hours out, when one corrected for this it is relatively simple to see that the tachograph report on the times of the stops, the reported stops that is, correspond in the main to the satellite tracker when it was working and the reported stops as on the trip sheet. I agree with the respondent’s submission further that the applicant did appear vague on the one stop as to what it was, however for the above reasons I find it unlikely that the chicken was taken out of the vehicle on the road. There was also not even a written statement from the George police to verify if there was an accident or not, and just Farmer’s testimony as to what she was allegedly told telephonically by the police.

71. Further to the above in addressing the issue of the seal numbers not corresponding, whilst Farmer submitted that the driver, being the applicant should be present when the customer checks and breaks the seals, the evidence from the applicant and Vyver is that this is not necessarily what occurs on the road, and that they must just ensure that one of the respondent’s employees on the trip must be present. If what Farmer submitted is the standard operating procedure, no evidence, documentary or otherwise (apart from Farmer) of this was presented, and it is difficult for the respondent to dispute what at least appears to be custom and practice. The common cause fact is that Fredericks, and not the applicant was present with the customer’s checker when the seals were checked and broken and that the alleged non-corresponding seal was not written in on the delivery note. The matter of the seals not corresponding was also not even verbally brought to the applicant’s attention at the customer. It is perhaps unfortunate that the respondent did not at very least ensure that they had statements from both the butchery owner who Farmer testified had called her, and the butchery checker who allegedly first saw the problem with the seal numbers, and at best had both present to testify and provide answers and clarity as to what occurred on the day and why the problem was not noted on the trip sheet, and when the seals not matching were noticed and the events that transpired thereafter as to whether the seal had first been discarded in the crate or whether they had been immediately taken to the butchery owner. This would have aided in determining where the incorrect seal was found and the integrity of the evidence clarified, and how the previously used seal for a local Cape Town load found its way to PE. The cable tie seals would be difficult to have been re-used, well nigh impossible if they had been closed and pulled through properly. Again, no evidence was presented from the respondent as to the people present when the seals were sealed on the Rainbow premises when the applicant took his load. This again might have provided clarity on the above.

72. I do agree with the respondent’s representative, Strydom, that at times the applicant appeared evasive and I cannot agree with the applicant’s contention (and Vyver’s) that it was unreasonable and unfair for the applicant to have been charged. The applicant’s failure to want to answer and finally when he answered his demeanor was of a person trying to think what was the best thing to say that would put him in a favourable light. This was unnecessary. He did finally agree that it was reasonable and fair for the respondent to have investigated the shortage. This was the same when he was asked if as the driver, was he in charge of the load. He again did not directly state what the case was and said he is in charge of the truck and not the load. Whilst this appeared evasive, he also eventually agreed that he was in charge of the load, but effectively not the actual number of items in the load as he does not personally check them onto the load. This was more a technical point and understanding. I found him to appear evasive, but whilst this appears suspicious, I do not agree that it goes to the applicant and Vyver’s credibility – no more than Farmer having changed her testimony regarding the double stackingand where the frozen chicken is normally packed in a load. 

73. Under the circumstances I therefore find, based upon the evidence on the balance of probabilities that the respondent has failed to fully discharge their onus.  There is insufficient evidence to find the applicant guilty, however suspicious the respondent party feel some of the ‘conditions present’ were.

74. In coming to a decision as to the remedy for the unfair dismissal, I take inter alia,  the following into account:

a. The applicant has requested retrospective reinstatement.

b. The respondent is a large distributor. 

c. The dismissal was procedurally fair.

d. The applicant was dismissed on 21 December 2011 and has worked for the respondent from 27 October 2009.

75. The respondent argued against a possible reinstatement as the trust relationship has gone due to the applicant’s alleged dishonesty. However the respondent has failed to discharge their onus and prove such dishonesty or that the applicant was aware of the IQF’s being taken, and therefore, the respondent is to reinstate the applicant into the same or similar occupation that he was previously in, on the same terms and conditions and without loss of benefits as employed on prior to his dismissal. As such I reinstate the applicant with five months and 8 days back pay being R32,565.58 (thirty two thousand, five hundred and sixty five rands and fifty eight cents). The applicant is to report for work on 4 June 2012.

AWARD

76. I find the applicant’s dismissal to be substantively unfair.

77. I order the respondent, Unitrans Freight Logistics (Pty) Ltd, to pay the applicant an amount of R32,565.58 (thirty two thousand, five hundred and sixty five rands and fifty eight cents) compensation less tax, on or before 4 June 2012..

78. I order the respondent, Unitrans Freight Logistics (Pty) Ltd, to reinstate the applicant into the same or similar occupation that he was previously in, on the same terms and conditions without loss of benefits as employed on prior to his dismissal with effect from 4 June 2012. The applicant is to report for work on 4 June 2012.

Signed and dated at Parow on 18 May 2012.

NBCCI Arbitrator: Guy Bloch
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